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GENERAL INFORMATION

In the south-eastern corner of the Patna Distiiet,
about 13 miles south-west of Bihir Sharif, the
Bukhtiarpur-Bihar Light Railway running by a
metalled District Board road terminates at Réjgir
which represents the ancient city of Rijogriha. Rajgir
is o sacred place of pilgrimage for Buddhists, Jainas,
Hindus and Muslims alike and at its famous hot springs
o large Hindu fair is held every third year (during the
intercalary month) which continues for a whole month.
Gantama Buddha and Mahivira, the twenty-fourth
Jaina Tirthankara, are said to have passed many a
rainy season here, The Jainas further hold the place
sacred on account of its being the birth-place of their
twentieth Tirthankara, Muni Suvrata.

The only conveyance available in the village is the
Lhatoli or doli of which the charges are moderate and
any number can be had at short notica, There is a
Buddhist Dharmagili close to the Railway Station
and several Jaina Dharmadilis in the village.
Reservation in the District Board Inspection Bunga-
low and the District Board Resthouse, both half
a mile to the south-west of the railway station, is done
by the District Engineer, Patna.

The water of the hot springs contains a very small
quantity of solids (55 to 86 p.c.) as would appear from
the analysis-table displayed in the Inspection Bungalow.
The water of all the springs, especially that of the
Sitdhari and the Makhdim Kund, is very soft and
quite satisfactory for drinking and domestic purposes.



[ iv ]

Routes and exact positions of the archaeological
monuments mentioned in this Guide are indicated on
the map at the end of the book. Photographs of the
monuments and antiquities of Rijgir can be had from
the Superintendent, Department. of Archaeology, Cen-

tral Circls, Patna.

.




RAJGIR

SHORT HISTORY

Ancient names.—Rajgir was known in ancient days
by more names than one, of which mention may be
made of Vasumati, Barhadrathapura, Girivraja,
Kusigrapura and Réajagriha! The name Vasumati,

~ found in the Ramayana, probably owes its origin to the

mythical king Vasu, a son of Brahma, to whom the
foundation of the city is traditionally ascribed. The
name Birhadrathapura, met with in the Mahabhdrate
and the Purdnas, is reminiscent of King Brihadratha,
a forefather of the famous Jardsandha and the proge-
nitor of a dynasty. The physical conditions of the
area comprising the city, viz. the hills encireling it on
all sides, have given it the name Girivraja, * the enclo-
sure of hills’. The fourth name Kuédgrapura is found
in the itinerary of Hiuen Tsang and in the Jaina and
some Sanskrit Buddhist texts. Hiuen Tsang says
that it means * the city of the superior grass * and has
reference to the fragrant gross growing all round the

L For literary references to Rijapriha and its general historys
seo . O. Law, Rijagriba in Aneient Literature, Mem. Archacologieal

Survey of Tndia, no. 68 (1938) : Sen, Rajgir and il Neighhourhood
(1924). Far the Purinie ond epie materinls, see F. E. Pargiter,

Anciant Indinn Historienl Tradition (1822) ; also M. L. Dey, fhe-

tionary of ducient Qeography (1827}, & 1. Bijngriha and Girivreajn.
For the accounts of Fa Hien and Hiven Teang, sce J. Legge, Trovels
of Fa Hien (1886), pp. 80-86; 8. Beal, Buddhist Records of the
Western World (L004), IT, pp. 148 . ; T. Watters, On Yuan Chaang
1804), 11, pp. 148 ff..



2 RATGIR

oity;! more probably, however, it owes its origin to
King Eudagra, the successor of Brihadratha. The
name Réjagriha or © the royal palace * is an appropriate
designation of a place that remained the capital of
Magadha for centuries. Hiuen Tsang, however,
implies that this name is strictly applicable only to
the New City to the north of the hill-girt arvea.

Nuames of hills.—The hills that encircle Rajgir are
traditionally five in number. Their enumeration differs
in different texts. The Mahabharata, for example,
gives their names as Vaibhara, Variha, Vrishabha,
Rishigiri and Chaityaka ; at another place, however,
the same text specifies them as Pandara, Vipula,
Varahaka, Chaityaks and Matanga. The Pili texts
have another set of names: Vaibhira, Pandawva,
Vaipulya, Gridhrakiita and Rishigiri? The present
names are Vaibhira, Vipula, Ratna, Chhathi, Saila,
Udaya and Sond, their origin being due to the Jainas.
It is. very difficult to idenfify the modern names with
their ancient representatives. And to add to the diffi-
culties, the hill which iz now known as Vaibhira and
which is no doubt identical with the Vaibhara of the
Pali list has been called by Hiunen Tsang Pi-pu-lo,
phonetically representing Vipula.

Mythical kings—It is stated in the Ramayana that
Girivraja was found by Vasu, the fourth son of Brahma
the Creator. For a long time after this tradition is
silent abount the city, till we come to the days hefore

11t may be mentioned in this conmexion that the resd the roots
of which are used as khas (andropogen muricafus Retz.) grows in
abundance near about the place.

2The Pili equivalents are : Vebhirs, Pindave, Vepulla, Gijjho-
KiifaZand Tsigili.
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SHORT HISTORY 3

the Kurukshetra war, when Brihadratha, it is said,
established himself at this place and became the pro-
genitor of the Barhadratha dynasty, known after
his name. One of his successors was the famous Jara-
sandha who is said to have gained reputation as the
most powerful king of his time. He contracted a matri-
monial alliance with Kamsa, the king of Mathurd and
the maternal uncle of Kyishna, When Krishna killed
Kamsa for his misdeeds, Jarisandha marched on to
Mathuré to exterminate the tribesmen of Krishna but
was repulsed. After this Krishya visited Girivraja
with the Pandava brothers, Bhima and Arjuna, and
acting on his advice Bhima killed Jarasandha in a duel.
The dynasty of Jarisandha, however, continued to
rule till some time later.

Bimbisare.—Coming to more historical times when
Buddha was preaching his Law, we find a new dynasty,
with Bimbisira as king (c. B.C. 543-491), ruling over
Magadha. He was one of the four powerful kings
holding sway over northern India, the other three being
Prasenajit of Kosala, Udayana of Vatsa and Pradyota
of Avanti. Bimbisdra, though deficient in pedigree,
was at least equal to the others in prowess and extent
of kingdom. He committed Magadha to a career of
conquest ; the centrifugal forces that began to operate
under him stopped only at the time of Afoka when
Magadha became the centre of an empire extending
over India and Afghanistan.

Ajatatatru—Bimbisira was a great admirer of
Buddha and his ereed. In his old age he is said to
have been imprisoned and killed by his son Ajatagatrn
(c. B.C. 491-459), who, however, later on submitted
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to Buddha and became a convert to his creed. Fa
Hien, the earlier Chinese pilgrim, ascribes to him the
foundation of the New Capital ontside the hills and is
partially supported by Hiuen Tsang. Tn the Pili texts
he is said fo have repaired the fortifications of the city
in anticipation of an attack from the ferocious Pradyota,
the king of Avanti.

Rajagriha was humming with political and religious
activities at this time. Buddhaghosha, a late Pili
commentator, says that there were two portions of the
city, the inner and the outer (antar-nagara and bahir-
nagara), no doubt demarcated by the inner and outer
city-walls.  The city had thirty-two large gates
and sixty-four smaller ones. The population of the
place is given as eighteen crores, divided equally between
the inner and the outer portions—an obvious exaggera-
tion.

Activities of Buddha.—Rijagriha was an important
centre of Buddhism and Buddha himself passed many
years of his ministry at this place. Tt was the scene
of many sermons and important events of his life. He
lived in different localities of the city, but his favourite
resort was the Gridhrakita or the Vulture’s TPeal,
He admired the city and its environments and his

impression is summed up in his own words as given in a

Pali text :

‘Delightful is Rajagriha; delightful is the Gridhra-
kiita ; delightful is Gautama-nyagrodha; delightful is
Chaura-prapata ; delightful is the Saptaparni eave on
the side of the Vaibhiira ; delightful is Kiladili on the
Rishigiri side; delightful is Sarpa-éaundika-pragbhara
in Sitavana ; delightful is Tapodirama ; delightful is the

£
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Kalandaka lake in Veguvana ; delightful is the mange-
grove of Jivaka ; delightful is the Deer-park in Marda-
kulkshi.

After the deith of Buddha, Ajitagatru brought his
share of the corporal relics of the Master to Rijagriha
and enshrined them inside a stipa. A few months
later, when the leading Buddhist monks decided to
hold a council to form a corpus of the teachings of
Buddha, Ajitagatru accommodated them in a large
hall in front of the Saptaparni cave, specially built
for the purpose.

Mahivira.—Mahavira, the last of the Jaina Tirthan-
karas, passed fourteen rainy seasons ab Rajagriha and
its suburb of Nilandi. He had many rich supporters
at Réajagriha; and it is interesting to note that the
Jainas too claim Bimbisira and AjitaSatru (known
in their texts respectively as Srenika and Kunika) as
votaries of their faith. Réajagriha was also regarded as
the birthplace of Muni Suvrata, the twentieth Tirthai-
Fara. At the time of Buddha the Jainas too had some
gottlements in the city. Some other heretical teachers

. of the age had also their strongholds here.

Loss of status.—Ajdtadatra’s successor Udayin
(c. B.0. 459-443) transferved his capital from Rijagriha
to Pataliputra, probably owing to the convenient com-
munication afforded by the rich river-system of that
place. From this time the political importance of
Rajagriha gradually decreased, though we have a pass-
ing reference in the Purdnas that it once more became
the capital of Magadha under Siduniga (e. B.C. 411-393).

1 The names have been Sonskritized. -
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The subsequent kings, however, again reverted
to Pifaliputra. But the fact that Adoka erected
at Rajagriha a stiips and a pillar with an elephant-
capital shows that the place was not altogether
insignificant in the third century B.C.

Fa Hien.—Fa Hien, the Chinese pilgrim, who visited
India early in the fifth century A.D., found emptiness
and desolation in the wallay. Outside the hills there
was a band of monks inhabiting the monastery of
Karanda-venuvana (helow, p. 12).

Hiuen Tsang.—IHinen Tsang, the famous Chinese
pilgrim, visited Rajgir in the second quarter of the
saventh century. He has not much to say about the
contemporary condition of the place, presumably
becanse he found it deserted. Of the ancient monas-
terics and stdpas he found only the foundation-walls
and ruins standing. The directions and distances of
the different places of interest given by the Chinese
pilgrims are of great help to us in locating the ancient
sites of the place.

Centre of Jainism.—The modern religious importance
of the place is largely due to the Jainas who, with a
characteristic fondness for heights, have built temples
at the top of almost all the hills. These temples, though
not laying claim to great antiquity, attract pilgrims
from distant partz of India.

Archasological monuments.—The archaeological monu:
ments of Rajgir consist of extensive stone fortifica-
tions of the Old City, the stone walls of the citadel of

the New City, ManiyAr Math, the Sonbhandir caves
and’ the gites and remaine of a number of st@ipas,
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monasteries, caves, shrines, etc. We shall begin our
description of the monuments from the New City, the
stone fortifications of which easily attract the atlention
of the visitor standing in front of the railway station.



"NEW RAJGIR

Foundation.—TFa Hien says that Ajatagatru, the son
of Bimbisira and a junior contemporary of Buddhu,
built a fort outside the hill-girt area. Hiuen Tsang,
ou the other hand, ascribes the building of the New
Capital to Bimbisira himself, thougl he iz aware of
the alternative tradition making Ajitadatru respon-
sible for it. Though the Pili texts are silent about this
New Capital, the traditions recorded by the Chinese
travellers could not have been far from the truth. As
we have seen above, the successor of Ajitadatru shifted
the capital to Pataliputra, after which Riijagriha was
not occupied by a king powerful enough to build a
separate capital of big dimensions, '

Rampart.—The modern village of Rijgir is situated on
a part of the site of the New City which was protected
by a massive wall of earth, resembling an irregular
pentagon in shape, with a circuit of nearly 3 miles.
On the south, towards the hills, a portion of the fortified
area was cut off to form a citadel. The wall once
surrounding the town has almost entirely disappeared ;
but the citadel-wall is still fairly well-preserved and a
small portion near the Inspection Bungalow has been
exposed by the Archacological Department. The land
enclosed by the citadel-wall is now under cultivation.
The wall is faced with massive unhewn blocks of
stone set without any mortar, the core consisting of
smaller blocks with stone fragments, chips or river-
flints and earth in the interstices. The joints are

(8)

P




B 4

NEW RAJGIR 9

poinfed with lime mortar ; hut this was prohably done
in later repairs.  The wall is about 15 to 18 feet thick
and stands to a height of 11 feet at places. On the
ontside the wall was strengthened  with semicireular
bastions built at ireegular intervals,  There ure several
waps in the fort=wall on the east, north and west, it it
is not possible to say whicl of them, if any. served os
wteways.  In the south wall. however, slightly to
fhie west of the lavge gap through which runs the modern
youd from Riijgir to the hot springs, there ave the remains
of what must certainly have been a gatewny (plate T).
The walls which onee formed its jambs arve still standing
to a height of about G feet above the ground, The pass-
age is 11 feet wide, and on either side ol 1t are two
qemicireular bustions built in the same style as the
jumbs.  The mtewny was approached not by o flight
of steps but by earthen ramps hoth inside and outside.
A few fest to the west of this gate ean be seen o wide
briek platform, rosting ngainst the stone wall. Tt i
evidently a later construetion built to add strength to
the original fortification.

Freavalions.—In the partial  excavations carried
ont by the Archaeological Departinent in 1905-06, New
Rijgir yiehled remaivs of secular buildings in three
Tovels, the lowest being aboub cight fest below the
surfaee.  The walls of the middle level were only 13
to 16 inches thick and construeted of o course of small
rongh boulders in the foundations, of flakes of slatestone
up to 2 feet above this course, and of bricks (118X 2}
inches and 15X 1032 inches) in the superstructurs,
The highest level consisted of brick platforms, low walls
and o drain. In one of the dwelling houges was found a
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granary made of earthen rings and close to it an ancient
well built of wedge-shaped bricks.

Among the small antiquities recovered from the
ruing were :—two clay tablets inseribed with illegible
Brihmi characters of the first or second eentury B.C.
from a cell in the lowest level ; one syuare copper punch-
marked coin ; six copper cast coing showing standing
elephant on the obverse and tree stirrounded by railing
on the reverse : some copper coins of Sultin [brahim
Shih of Jaunpur, Sulidn Islim Shah Sard, Akbar
Badshah and Shih ‘Alam II; a silver bangle; a brass
statuette of crawling Bilakyishna ; a clay seal inscribed
with the word Jinarakshitasya in Gupta characters;
and some fragments of Buddhist sculptures and o few
terracottas bearing the Buddhist creed or symbols.

The citudel-wall was followed  in certain places
down to a considerable depth, when the stones became
sroaller and smaller ending at last in o layer of rubble.?

Stiapa.—To the west of the New City, on the other
side of the stream Sarasvati, is a large mound which
marks the site of a stitpe, that of Ajitadatru according
to Fa Iien and of Asoka accordiug to Hiven Tsang,
The mound was 31 fect high at the east end, but less on
other sides when it was excavated by the Archacological
Department in 1905-06, The excavations revealed
bricks suppused to of the typical Mauryan type at a
depth of 12 feet in the western part of the mound, which
had been re-used in the construction-of a later building.
About the middle of the mound were found the remains of
three late stipas and some mortar-pits, In the western

& Annual Report, Arehasological Sureey of Tndin, 1005-06, pp. 101-2-

t Annual Repert, Avehaeological Survey of India, Eastern Circle,
1006.06, p. 14

-
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NEW RAJGIR 11

part of the mound which was opened to a depth of
10 feet only were the remains of some brick walls, and
in the earth round about and abeve them were found
a number of miniature clay shipas, about 2 inches high
and 1 inch in diameter. Inside each of these mininture
stilpas was a tiny clay tablet with the Buddhist creed ye
dharmd ete, inscribed in characters of the eighth or
ninth century AD. The presence of these miniature
stiipas suggests that a large stidpa, the core of which
consisted of earth and débris, was built upon the remains
of the brick walls mentioned above.® ~

Pillnr.—Hiuen Tsang saw near the siipa a pillar
5i) feet hirli surmounted by an elephant.®  But no traces
of the pillar exist now ; nor is it mentioned by Fa Hien.

A few yards to the west of the st@pe is another mound
which was also excavated but which yielded nothing
worth mentioning,

Cemelery.~-About 100 yards to the south of the
mound is a bathing place with steps leading to water
on the north and south, and to the east of it a burning

~ ground where the local Hindus still burn their dead.

The cemetery mentioned by the Chinese travellers as
being situated to the west of the Sitavana is probably
to be identified with this burning ghat. Hiven Tsang
gays that the New Capital was built upon the site of
Sitavana, but the Pili seriptures place Sitavana on the
slope of a hill,

1 The following verse ie referred to as Buddhiet ereed ; ye dharmd
ketu-prablemt hetus feahim Talkdgelo hyeovedel leshdth cha yo
niredha evad-vidi mahd-iramanal, ' Buddha has revealed the cadee
of oll phenomena proceeding from a couse, as well ss (the way of)
their suppression ; g0 says the Great Sage’.

* Annual dewr!. Archaeological Survey of Jndia, 1005-06, pp. 96-7.

¥ Beal, Buddhisl Records af the Western World, 11, p, 165,



VENUVANA

Karapde tank.—aving scen New Rijgir and the
adjoining stiipe the visitor may proceed to the group
of hot springs at the foot of the Vaibhira hill, the
largest of which i= known as the Satdhari, by the
footpath which crosses the compound of the Inspection
Bungalow from north to south. About 150 yards

tu the north of the modern temples and mosques .

near the hot springs, the visitor will find a large tank
immediately to the right of the footpath. This has been
identified with the Karanda tank of the Chinese pilgrims
—a tank which finds mention in Pili and some Sanskrit
Buddhist texts as Kalandanivipa or Karandaka-
nivipa.! Proceeding a short distance from the southern
bank of this tank and again to the right of the footpath
is a large mound overgrown with shrubs and surmounted
by a number of Muslim tombs. This mound is believed
to mark the site of the stipas and wihire of Venuvana
or the Bamhboo Grove spoken of by the Chinese pilgrims
and in the Buddhist seriptures as being in the vieinity
of the tank. On the other side of the stream are the
remains of a stone wall crossing the stream, possibly an
ancient caugeway repaired in later times. The little

1], W, Sen in his Rajgir end its Neighbourkood, p. 30, however,
disagrees with this identifieation of K dahrads on the ground
that Hiuen Tsung also tells ue that the lake had disappeared
bofore his tire. This means thet the prosent tank, though sitow
in the old ares covered by Venuvana as Sen admits, is not the ori-
ginul lake, But it is possible that it might have beon

exeavated in Inter times at the zite of the old tevl. Tt is really |

the gite which is of consequence in this eose.

[ 121

L
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garden on the other side of the stream has been identi-
fied as o part of Venuvana! but it is probably the
Tapodirima monastery of the Pili scriptures, Tapodd
being probably the stream formed by the water of the
hot springs which is now known as the Sarasvati®,—
the monastery having been entively forgotten by the
time of the Chinese pilgrims.

Excavations.—In the large mound comprised in the
Venpuvana area (then 770 feet in civcumfercnee at the
base) a few trial trenches were dug by Th. Bloch of the
Archaeological Department in 1903-08, hoth around
the large grave on the top, and on the castern slope.
The former brought to light the foundations of a room
and the bases of nine brick stdpas surrounded by con-
crete floor about G feet below the level of the grave.
All the stépas were opened, but were found to contain
nothing but pottery vases filled with earth. The
trenches on the east slope of the mound revealed ,no
structures, but some clay tablets impressed with the
Buddhist creed in characters of the tenth or eleventh oen-
tury were recovered.® The following other antiquities
deserve mention: o stone pedestal and legs of a seated
Bodhisattva with two male figures and inseribed with
the Buddhist formula ye dharmd ete., in characters of
the tenth or eleventh century; a stone pedestal
carved with fiznres of a man, a wheel and a horseman ;
another broken stone pedestal 2} inches high adorned
with two niches cach enclosing o figure of Buddha in
the dharmachakra~-mudri ; another fragmentary pedestel

Ldnmaal Report, .Ara}m::.!qrwl Survey of India, 190508, p. M.
4 Ban, op. oif. p. 4
3 Annual Reporl, Archacological Survey of Tndia, 1905-06, p. 95,
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bearing eepresentations of an elephant, a wheel, a horse
and a bird (2) ; and a portion of a sculpture representing
the heads of Siva and Parvati,

Ajatatatru’s stipa—Hiuen Tsang saw a stiipe builk
by Ajitagatru to the east of Vepuvana. This stiipe
must be sought for very near Venuvana, as the Maiiju-
érimitlakalpa says that it was within the Venuvana
area.l In that case it may be represented by the
mound to the left of the modern road, the stone bases
of which are =till to be seen and on which stand some

stone pillars, evidently of much later date.

VK. P. Jayaswal, Imperial Hislory of Indic (1934), p. 20 of the
Ennskrit text. b e
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ON THE VAIBHARA HILL

Pippala stone house—A little above the Satdhard
group of hot springs, on the castern slope of the
Vaibhira hill, and to the right of the pathway leading
up to the Mahideva temple on the top of that hill
is o remarkable stone structure locally known as the
machin  (‘wateh-tower’) or Jardsandhe k3 bavthak,
which has been identified with the residence of Pippala
mentioned in the Buddhist text and the accounts of the
Chinese pilgrims. The structure is in the form of a
large rectangular platform measuring 85 feet by Bl
feet at the base and 81 feet 6 inches by 78 feet at the
top and 22 feet to 28 feet high. It is built of large
unhewn blocks of stone set on the rock without any
mortar and contains near the base several small irre-
gularly-shaped cells on all sides (plate II). It is likely
that these artificial cells in the walls of the building
lent to it the appearance and name of a cave (guha).
Tts walls, like those of the rectangular bastions of the
outer city-walls of Old Rijgir, have a slight batter,
On the top of the structure are five Muslim graves,
four on a brick platform in the centre and one to the
gouth of it. '

This structure, states Sir John Marshall, must have
originally been an ordinary watch-tower, the small
chambers near its base providing shelters for the guards ;
in aftertimes, when no longer required for defensive
purposes, they might have afforded convenient cells
for ascetics to meditate inl!

—l
\dnnual Reporl, Archacological Survey of India, 1905-06, pp. $8-90.
[ 15 ]
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Some Pili texts describe the Pippala cave as the
residence of Mahikidyapa, the president of the First
Buddhist Council ; and it is said that on one occasion
Buddha, visited Mahikidyapa when the latter was
lying in the Pippala cave, sulfering greatly in mind
and body. Hiuen Tsang says that there was a deep
cavern behind the walls of this house, believed to be
the residence of Asuras. In this connexion it is of
interest to note that even as late as 1895 there was a
long natural cave with a fallen roof behind the present
stone strueture.

Saptaparni cave—Leaving the Pippala stonc house
to the right and climbing the hill by the rocky path

that leads to the Mahideva temple on the summit of

the hill, the visitor should proceed till the largest
modern Jaina temple, that of Adindtha, is reached.
A few yards to the east of the temple is a tiny shrine
behind which, to the right, there is a narrow footpath
descending the rugged northern scarp of the ridge to
a level of about 100 feet below the temple and leading
to a long artificial terrace in front of a line of six (the
number might originally have been seven) caves,
all contained in a semicircular bend of the rock. Part
of this path is paved with stones and looks like
a osauseway 6 feet wide. Four of the caves are in a
fairly good state of preservation.

The terrace in front of the caves iz about 120 feet
long and 34 feet wide at the east and 12 feet at the
western extremity. The retaining wall marking the
outer edge of the ferrace was constructed of large
nnhewn stones set without any mortar, but only a

1 List of Anciend Monuments in Bengal (1305), pp. 2062-3.

7
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small section of it, about 15 feet long and 8 feet high,
has survived. This place substantially agrees with the
description of Saptaparpi found in Pali and Banskrit
Buddhist texts, where the First Buddhist Couneil,
attended by five hundred monlks, was held six months
after the death of Buddha.

Jaina temple.—Returning to the flat space on which
stand the modern Jaina temples the visitor will find
an ancient roined Jaina temple, which has been fully
exposed and repaired. The temple consists of a central
chamber facing east, surrounded by a court which again
is flanked on all sides by rows of cells. The central
chamber as well as these cells are provided with niches
in the walls to contain images. Most of these images
are Now miss.ir!g and of those that exist mention may
be made of the following.

Among the images in the niche facing east in the
central chamber is a figure seated cross-legged in
dhydna-mudrd on a throne resting on a female figure
lying on her side. The throne contains lions at the
extremities and a wheel in the centre. On the halo
there appear musical instruments played upon by
unseen hands. The image to the left is that of Risha-
bhadeva seated on a pedestal with two bulls and wheel
and wearing on the head a jat@mulkute or matted hair,
The inscription on the pedestal belongs to the eighth
century A.D. and reads dchirya-Vasantanandir=dedhar-
mo="yah (to be corrected as dehdrya-Voswilanandine
deya-dharmo="yusi), ‘the pious gift of the teacher Vasan-
tanandin’, There is another mutilated image consist-
ing only of the crossed legs of o figure supported
by bulls, the pedestal bearing the inscription:
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deva(ya)-dharmo="yan  Thiroka(?)sya, ‘the pious gilt
of Thiroka’.

The cells round the central chamber contain some
loose sculptures representing PiirSvanitha and Mahi-

vira, and in one case, a seated image with a horse on

the pedestal (thus indicating Sambhavanitha) and two
elephants on the halo holding a parasol. In one of the
cells to the north of the main building is a sculpture
depicting a heavenly scene according to Jaina mytho-
logy : a male and a female figure are seated on a pedestal
in lalitisana, the latter holding a child on her left knee,
under a tree on which appears the figure of an Adi-Jina
in dhyana-mudrd.

Adjoining the east wall of, and on a level lower than
that of the main building, is another room with its stairs
on the north, containing a few images. One of them
represents Neminitha, as is evident from a pair of
conch-shells on the pedestal. There is also a fine
fignre of Mahdvira with an indistinct inseription of
about the fifth century A.D. on the pedastal.

The Jaina establishments on the Vaibhara hill are
certainly old. This is shown not only by the inserip-
tions on the images but by the statement of Hiuen
Tsang that in his time naked ascetics (i.e. the Jainas)
frequented the place in great numbers.

Malddeva temple.—A few yards to the- south of
the enclosure containing Jaina images is a ruined temple
dedicated to Siva. Tt consists of a small sanctum
(garbhagriha) about 11 feet squave internally. The
sanctum has a flat roof and enshrines a small liige,
a headless bull and a miniature $ikhara. The doorway
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is flanked by two female figures and sculptured stone
slabs with pot-and-folinge design,

In front of this sanctum there oviginally stood a
mapdape of which the granite pillars, arranged in
six rows of five ench, are still standing, The enclosurs
wall is a later addition to preserve the pillars and shows
two different periods of construction, the original one
being moulded and the later repairs without any archi-
tectural features. The later wall also projects about
26 feet to the aast of the original one, the additional
gpace thus enclosed being filled with earth and débris,
At the same time the door at the entrance was narrowed
down from a width of 12 feet to 4 feet, the original door-
jambs being still indicated by two pillars, einbedded
within the later brickwork.

Old road.—Retracing his steps to the Jaina temples
the visitor will descend the hill by the same rocky path
by whieh he aseended and get down to the hot springs
below the Pippala stone house. About a hundred
yards from the top of the hill, an old road will be seen
branching off to the right. It is somewhat easicr than
the modern path and leads straight into the Old City.

Stone lall.—1It has been stated above that according
to Sir John Marshall Baptaparni is represented by a
hall and not by caves. The visitor wishing to seo it at
close quarters may here take the footpath above the
Satdhiard hot springs and proceed to the site which
is about a mile and a quarter to the west. The spur on
which the hall was constructed is covered with jungle

- at present except for a small portion at the top where

it i& easy to see that originally the top had been arti-
ficially- built up and levelled and provided with broad
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ramps on each side to give approach to it. On the
sides of the platform and along its front face are the
remains of a large structure about 250 feet by 120 feet,
of which the walls were constructed of great unhewn
blogks similar to those seen in the Pippala stone house
and in the fortifications of the ancient city. In the
trial excavations on the plateau no antiquities came
to light except a spindle-whorl and a small toothed
wheel of copper. The hall, if any, was apparently
constructed of perishable material.l

1 Annuai Report, Archacological Surcey of India, 1905.06, p, 100.

4
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IN THE VALLEY

North gate.— -Tietracing their steps to the hot springs
and crossing the new iron bridge over the Sarasvati,
the visitor will turn to the right and take the main
road which leads from Rajgir to the Bangangi defile.
Travelling about two hundred yards he will find the
north gate of the outer fortifications of Old Rajgir near
the narrow gap between the Vaibhira and Vipula hills.
It may be interesting to record that according to
Buddhist literature one day King Bimbisira was unable
to finish his bath in the Tapoda (the Sarasvati or the
chiefl hot spring) in time, and when returning to the
town found the city-gate—most probably this north
gate—closed and passed the night with Buddha in the
Venuvana monastery. About o hundred yards further
south the visitor will find the remains of the north
gate of the citadel of Old Rajgir (below, p. 39).

Maniyar Math (plate III).—Less than a mile from
the north gate, to the right or west of the road a foot-
path near a modern well leads to a stone compound-
wall containing o eylindrical brick structure protected
by a conical shelter of corrugated iron sheets and some
other subsidiary structures. The name Maniyar Math
was originally applied to a small Jaina shrine built
on the top of a brick mound, about 20 feet high. Believ.
ing that the mound probably represented an old Buddhist
stiipa and in the hope of securing the possible relics,
Alexander Cunningham in 1861-62 sank a shaft near the
Math with a gradual inclination towards the centre,

€],
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He discovered, however, that the core of the mound
was a mere mass of rubbish filling a well 10 feet in
diameter. Withont destroying the Math at the top
he went down to a depth of about 21 fect in the well
and recovered three small fipures 19 fest below  the
surface. One of them represented in its lower portion
Maya lying on a couch, the ascetic Buddha being port-
rayed above ; the second was a naked standing figure
with the hood of a seven-headed serpent, probably
Parévanitha; and the third was too crude to be

identified.

In 1905-06 Bloch further excavated the mound,
digging a trench from the east. He demolished the
Jaina shrine on the top and exposed a massive brick
structure—what is now covered with a conical roof
of corrngated iron sheets—decorated with well-preserved
stuceo figures around the base. The images were
about 2 feet high and included (1) a lifiga bearing a
garland of flowers; (2) crowned, four-armed Banisura
(1) with the upper hands eut off, standing on rocks ;
(3) a Nagi and five Niagas canopied by serpent hoods ;
(4) Ganeda seated on rocks with cobras twisted around
his body; and (5) six-armed dancing Siva, bearing a
cobra and arrayed in a tiger skin (plate V). Fram
their style the images appear to have been erected in
the Gupta period.® It is unfortunate that despits
the eorrugated shelter and an iron fence erected to

14 ical Survey of India Report, I, p. 26.

® Annual 4, Ar ical Survey of India, 1005.08, pp. 103
04, The identifieation of the second image with Binisura ia rather
doubtful, as Bindsura was never raised to the status of a deity in

the Hindu pantheon,

ik 1
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preserve them these important figures (perhaps the
earliest stucco figures in East India) have all disappeared,
with the exception of the much-damaged image of
CGancda.

The activitics of the Archaeological Department
have again been directed to this monument in recent
years, with the result that the question of its nature and
stratification has to be considered afresh. It is now
certain that the buildings on the site are the result of
successive accumnlations of ages, the last of them being
the Jaina temple of a very late date, now demolished.
As far as iz known till now, the original structure
was of o hollow cylindrical shape, its wall being about
5 feet thick ; the inner surface of this wall was entirely
smooth, while the outer surface had four short projec-
tions at the cardinal points. At the next stage a wall
with elaborate mouldings was built upon the onter wall
of the first period ; this wall was provided with niches,
to contain the stucco images mentioned above, At
the same time a door was provided to gain access into
the *well’ formed by the cylindrical structure.

The portion of the wall above the stucco figures is
evidently a later restoration, as would appear from the
fact that the bricks used in its construction are larger
than those used in the lower portion and it rests directly
upon the heads of some of the stucco figures breaking
into the eurve of the niches below. All these different -
periods of the wall are also indicated by as many concrete
pavements near their bases, which show that the level
of the building successively rose with time.
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Coming now to the outer enclosing wall we find that
this too was not the work of a single generation. At
first it was probably circular, as is indicated by the
base of a circular wall to be found to the east and
west of the cylindrical structure. Subsequently, the
enclosing wall took the shape of a rectangle with a
projection in the north, against which rises a flight of
stairs. Tt will be observed that this rectangular wall
a8 well as the stairs show different periods of construe-
tion, though the later builders did not materially deviate
from the plan of the earlier wall. Finally, we find a
few courses of a circular wall at the top, concentric
with the interior eylinder.

1t ie difficult to decide the relation of the inner and
onter walls. Though the space between them was
filled up with débris when they were exposed, it is not
impossible that the gap was originally meant to be
a pradakshipe-patha or ciroumambulatory passage ;
it is also likely, however, that the outer wall was erected
as a retaining wall when the inner wall began to give
WaY.

The last addition to the main shrine, apart from
the dismantled Jaina temple at the fop, was a stone
retaining wall, portions of which are to be seen to the
south and west.

Al around the main shrine the visitor will find low
brick altars or platforms, circular, oblong or square.
Their use cannot now be determined, but there can
hardly be any doubt that they served some religious
or ritualistic purpose. On and near one of such altars
to the cast of the main shrine were found scattered a

Wy
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large numbesr of pottery jars (plates IV and Via), some
of them being about 4 feet in height. A peculiar feature
of these jors is that they have stuck on, or in some cases,
rivetted into, their surfaces a large number of spouts,
some of which are curionsly shaped as serpent-hoods,
gobling and animal fizures. The wvessels have some-
times long necks and rounded bottoms. On some there
iz a row of earthen lamps in addition to the spouts.
Though there is no ancient parallel to these finds, it
is interesting to note that similar jars with spouts are
gtill now used in Bengal in the worship of serpents
under the name Manasa.

The other finds in the area comprise a large number
of terracotta serpent-hoods, loops of serpents, a model
pottage with a courtyard in front and macy other minor
antiquities.

To the west of the main shrine and separated from
it by a narrow passage is a brick shrine showing four
different perieds of comstruction. The first period
consists of a square platform and the second is
represented by another platform with three parallel
rectangular pits in it. In the third period these pits
were coverad to make room for a solid platform onee
more, and the last is represented by a similar platform
with a concrete pavement. On thiz pavement was
found a most interesting, though unfortunately frag-
mentary, sculpture made of red spotted Mathura sand-
stone carved on both the sides (plate VIb). The
sculpture, so far as it can be reconsiructed, shows
different panels with male and female figures with
serpent-hoods,  Below a row of standing figures there

+190
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is a mutilated inscription bearing the important name
of Mani-niga. Below another female figure appears
the inscription Blagini | wmagadhi, © the sisber Suma-
gadhi’. And on a detached picce oceur the words
parvato Vipule and ﬂ'ﬁ_f:‘l.-gn'ufﬂ'a, Vipula being the name
of one of the hills of Rajgir and Grenika being another
name of King Bimbisira. Tho date of the sculpture
as indicated by the inseriptions and by the style of the
figures, is the first or second century A.D.

These and other portable antiquities of Rajuir are
temporaxily housed in the Archacological Museum ab
Nalanda.

Judging from the stucco figures mentioned above,
Bloch concluded that Maniyar Math, sitnated as
it is ‘almost right in the centre of the Old City, was
some kind of a Pantheon of Rijagriha, and that the
various figures of ndgas and ndgis represent certain
serpent deities, whom popular religion worshipped at
distinet places on the surrounding hills.  Marshall,
on the other hand, was inclined to regard the eylindrical
structure as o colossal linga, and as a parallel he pointd
to the colossal linga at Fatehgarh near Biaramulad in
Kashmir? The recent discoveries, however, point
to different conclusions. The stucco figures on the
inner wall showing male and female naga figures, the
terracotta serpent-hoods and loops, the poftery that
‘s even mow characteristic of serpent-worship in Fust
India, and above all the stone sculpture with wdge
figures and with the name of Mani-niga occwrring on
it—all tend to show that the place was the centre of

1 Annual Repori, Archasslogical Survey of India, 10056, p. 104.
1 Ibid., p. 105, .
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sarpent-cult. And as the Mahabhirata knows Rijagriha
to be the sacred abode of Mani-niga,” there is little
doubt now that the modern Maniyir Math represents

- the place where the ancient shrine of Maniniga once

stood.

In the deeper levels in the area there are stone build-
ings quite indspendent of the brick structures standing
above. Further operations are necessary to bnng
out their nature,

Sonbhandar eaves.—By a road running to the north-
west of Maniyd Math the visitor will come to a group
of two caves known as Sonbhandir excavated in the
gouthern scarp of the Vaibhara Hill (plate VIIa).
The rock in which the caves were excavated is not
sufficiently homogencous to be suitable for the ex-
eavation of caves, so that the roof of the castern one
has entively fallen off, while the roof and walls of the
other one contain large cracks.

The western cave containg a doorway and a window
in the southern wall. The door-opening is about 6
inches wider at the base than at the top. The walls
of the cave are straight up to a height of about 6 feet
and then turn inwards to form the arch-shaped roof,
which has a rise of about 5 feet. A number of short
epigraphs can be seen on the inner walls, the doox-
jambs and the front wall ; but they are mostly oblite-

rated, with exception of the one on the outer wall to

L], Ph. Vogel, fudien Serpent-Lore (1026), pp. 218 ff. The Pali
texts mention o shrine called Mepimila-chaitya bclonmnﬁ to Mani-
bhadra-yaksha, It is not unlikely that this is identical with the
shrine of Mani-niga refared to in the Mahibkiirele and that the
word Manpiydr is ved from the nncient Maniméile.
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the laft of the door-way, which is of great value for
fixing the date and purpose of the caves.t

The second or the eastern cave stands on a lower
level than the first, but there is no doubt that both
were excavated at one and the same time. It was
first noticed by Canningham, who found the roof fallen
and the interior filled with masses of rock and earth.?
The débris has been cleared from the interior, and the
floor is maintained at its original level. There was
a roofed verandah in front of the cave as is indicated
by beam-holes on the outer wall and a platform or
courtyard in front, the brick pavement of which is
still visible. The second storey of the cave was built
of bricks and was approached by rock-cut stairs which
are even now traceable. A fine image of Vishnu riding
on Garuda and belonging to the Gupta period, now in
the Nalanda Museum, had originally been installed
on the top of the door probably at a time when the
Jainas had abandoned the caves and was found lying
on the verandah with the front side down. Inside
the cave, on the southern wall, are six small figures

P ————————

1 The inseription is in two lines and palacographically belongs to
the third or fourth century A.D. Itprn.d.a: ¥ Y &
uuﬂwuﬁﬁhﬁﬂy& tapasvi-yogye fubhe guhe's=rhal-pratimi-prok
shihe
Gchdrya-ratnam(?)  wuni- Voiradeval vimukioye' s kirayad=
dirdhvalejdl{t)

The reading of the last portion of the sccond line is dombtful,
The verse may be thus translated : ‘The sage Vairadeva of great
Tastre (%), the jewel (¥) ameong teachers, caused to be mado for the
purpose of attaining salvation and for liberation two ruspioions
coves worthy of asoatics, in which were placed the images of arfals’ .
Annual Repeorl, Archaeological Survey of India, 1905-08, p. 98n.

* Archaeological Survey of Tndia Report, I, p. 25.
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of the Jaina Tirthankaras carved in relief and repre-
senting Padwaprabhu, Parévanitha aund Mahavira
(plate VIIb).

Cunningham identificd  the Sonbhandar caves
first with the Pippala cave! and later on with the
Saptaparni cave.? His assistant Beglar regarded them
as the caves of Buddha and Ananda. In the light of
the information given by the inscription meutioned
above, both the theories may be dismiseed ; the ins-
cription shows that the caves were excavated in the
third or fourth century A. D. by a Jaina ascetic, and
their Jaina origin is also indicated by the images of
Jaina Tirthankaras appearing on the walls of one of
them,

In the western cave is now placed a sikharg-shaped

~ seulpture of black stone (known as chaumulhi) depicting

a naked Jaina figure on each of its four faces. On
the pedestals of these images are the figures of bulls,
clephants, horses and monkeys in pairs flanking a
wheel, thus indicating the first four Tirthankaras,
Rishabhadeva, Ajitanitha, Sambhavanatha and
Abhinandana.

Rana-bhiimi.—About a mile to the west of Son-
bhandar and approached by a narrow footpath from
the caves is situated what is locally known as the
ALhdrda or Rane-bhitmi of Jardsandha. Tradition
asserts that at this particular place Bhima and Jari-
sandha, king of Girivraja, fought for twentyeight
days before the mighty king was overpowered and killed.

\ drelaeological SMU§ af India Report, 1, p. 34
" b‘jﬂrp mp PP; 14‘}
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The place abounds in a soft whitish bleached earth
which the local people rub on their bodies in the belief
that it will give them extraordinary physical strength,
Close to this place a stream locally known as the Raga-
blizmi i nali has out its way through the bunds, This
stream is possibly the Sumagadhi spoken of in the
Ramayaya as a lovely xill flowing like a wreath among
the five great mountains of Girivraja.

We shall now retrace our steps to the Sonbhandar
caves and thence to Maniyir Math and back to the
main road which we had left in order to see the Math,
the cave and the Abhdrt. '

Bimbisare Jail.—Procecding southwards along the
main road and teavelling about three-quarters of a mile
from Maniyar, Math, the wisitor will find an area,
about 200 feet square, enclosed by a stone wall, about
6 feet thick, with cirenlar bastions at the corners. It
has been identified with the prison in which Bimbisira
was confined by his son Ajatagatrn. It is said that
from his prison Bimbisira was able to see Buddha on
the Gridhrakiita,! and it will be noted that this place
answers to this description. Partial clearance of the
site brought to light stone cells, in one of which was
found an iron ring with a loop at one extremity, which
might possibly have served the purpose of manaeling
the prisoners.

- Qity-walls.—About half a mile further down the road,
the visitor will come to a gap in the inner city-wall
of Old Rajgir which probably served as a gate in ancient

3 Annual Bepert, Avehaeelopical Suredy of Tndie, 1013-14, p. 90,
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times. The road through this gate leads to the Ban-
gangd defile. Ascending to the top of the wall
here the visitor will see on the south-cast the outer
wall of the Old City marked by a comparatively higher
line of bamboos and other shrubs stretehing right
across the jungle-covered south-sastern valley from
the foot of the Udayagiri Hill; and about the middle
of the valley (where the inner city-wall bends out in
a semi-circle) joining the inner wall, leaving only
a narrow moat in between,® then bending a little
and continuing its progress towards the east for about
a mile, again taking a sharp turn to the north until
it reaches the foot of the Chhatha-giri. From the
foot of the Chhathi-giri where the wall ends, an ancient
road about 20 feet wide leads uphill and terminates
near the peak which is visible from a distance. We
shall presently turn to the history of this road
(below, p. 34).

As it is diffieult to reach the foot of the Chhathi-giri
by following the directions given above, a road running
east to west has been made to provide an easy approach
and will be found about 20 feet to the north of the
south-east gate of the inner city. Proceeding throngh
the jungle by this road we come to a moat over which
an iron bridge has been constructed by the Archaeo-
logical Department exactly on the spot where a bridge
gtood in ancient days. Remains of this ancient cons-
truction may be seen below the modern bridge. On

e —

1 An ombankment built (at a later period 1) at this point to divers
rain-water from the castern hills towards modern Riajgir, and to
provent it from going towards the southern valley is locally known
ag the Nelpai or Malkvi band.
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the western side of the moat there are traces of the
sast gate of the inner city. About a hundred yards
to the north of this gate there is a prominent projection
on the inner face of the city-wall. Its purpose is not
known, but it is possible vhat it marks the site of a

stiipa.

Fa)
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Jwaka’s Mango-garden.—Making straight for the
foot of the Chhathi-giri the visitor will go eastward,
past the probable sites of the mango-garden of Jivaka
and the Maddakuchchhi monastery. According to
Pili texts the former was situated somewhere between
the eastern gate and the Gridhrakita, which, as we
shall see, is probably represented by the Chhatha-giri,
Jivaka was the most famous physician of his day and -
was attached to the royal court of Bimbisira and
Ajatadatru. He presented his extensive mango-garden
to Buddha and the community and made it into a
monastery. The probable site of this monastery is
now full of stone wall-foundations and fallen pieces

of stone, but it is still unexplored and covered with
thick jungle.

Maddakuchehhi —~The name Maddakuchehhi (Sans-
krit Marda-kukshi or * Rub-belly *) gave rise to a story
that at this place the queen-of Bimbisira, knowing
that she was carrying a patricide, tried to get rid of
the unborn child by a forcible massage. From Pali
texts it appears certain that it was situated close to
the foot of the Gridhrakiita, for we are told that when
wounded by a splinter of the great rock hurled at him
by his rival cousin Devadatta, Buddha was first brougth
here on a stretcher before he could be removed to
Jivaka’s monastery. The place contained a deer-

park and a monastery. Its probabls site is indicated
on the map.

[ 98 ]
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Bimbisdra Road.—We have now reached the foot of
the Chhathi-giri, where the old road, mentioned
ahove (p. 31) begins its uphill course. This road has
an interesting  history behind it. Hiuen Trang tells
us that when Bimbisira was about to visit Buddha on
Mount Gridhrakita, he collected a number of men o
accompany him ; * they lovelled the valleys and spanned
the precipices, and with the stones made a staireasc
ahout 10 paces wide and & to 6 1i long'  * This road
of Bimbisira®, says Marshall, ‘which Hiuen Trang
traversed, still cxists and gtill affords the most con-
venient footway through the jungle and up the hill

side in approaching Gridhrakita ; but there can be-

little doubt that in prehistoric times it formed a line
of fortification and was builk for that purpose......
It is built of rough undressed stones, lile all the prehis-
torio walls of Rajagriha, and its width is from 20 feet
to 24 feet which agrees well enough with the 10 paces
of Hinen Tsang. On its outer side— that is, towards
the valley—there seems to have been a wall some
3 feot or 4 feet thick. Only its foundations, however,
remnain and, being level with the causeway, it looks
at first sight as if they had been laid there to widen it.
Whether this wall was contemporary or not with the
canseway cannot be determined *.?
Stiipas.—Proceeding up this road, one comMes across
two hrick stiipas, the first about 80 yards from the base
and the second further up where the road turns to the
north. Both these stipas were noticed Dy Hiuen
Teang who says that the first commemorated the spob
where Bimbisira got down from his chariot and the

THeal, Buddhist Records of the Wesleri World, 1T, p. 153
t dnnual Report, drchar fcal Swrney of Tndia, 190506, p. 81
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second where the king sent back the crowd that was
accompanying him. These siipas were opened in
1905-08, but nothing very interesting was found.

Gridhrakiita.—Aflter crossing the deep gorge cut by
a rocky stream we come to the end of the rocky path
and find the remains of the Gridhrakiita to our right.
These are two natural caves with steps approaching
them, which, in all probability, represent the *stone
houses * (or ‘ caves ' according to another translator)
mentioned by Hinen Tsang. Inside one of the caves
were found a number of terracotta plagues with the
seven Past Buddhas and Maitreya the Future Buddha
seated in two rows and the Buddhist creed inscribed
below each figure in minute characters, Outside
the caves we notice large stone walls of ancient strue-
tures that once existed at this place. Going further
up and ascending to the right by what now remains
of the ancient rock-cut stairs we find ourselves on a
wide platform containing numerons brick and stone
ghrines. In fact, the whole area is studded with
Buddhist monuments, which show that the place was
considered holy by the Buddhists down to later ages.
This is but natural, as the Gridhrakiita was the favourite
resort of Buddha and the seene of many of his important
sermons.t

The antiquities recovered from this place (plate VIII)
may be seen in the Muscum at Nalanda.

1 Some scholars doubt this identification. But the indications
of the Chinese travellers and the antiguitics recovered make this
identification highly probable, if not certain. And nothing in Pili
literature goes against it. Tt may be mentioned that the existenon
of cavos in the Gridhrakita is attested to by o Gandhira seulpture
of the saeend or third century AD. (N, G. Majumdar, Guide in Sculp-
tures in fhe Indion Museam, 11 p.o G1).
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Shell inscriptions.—Retracing his steps to the east
gate, the visitor will have to walk about a mile and a
half to the south-west till he reaches the District Board
road at the same point where he left it in order to reach
the Gridharakita. He will then walk southward
on the road through the gap in the inner city-wall, when
after going about a mile and half he will find, to the
laft to the road, o stone enclosure.  Inside this enclosure
there is a large number of inscriptions in * shell * charac-
ters and at several places mts of ancient cart- or
chariot-wheels which have cut deep into the rocky soil.
The *shell’ inscriptions, which have been found in
many places in northern India (ot Rajgir itself there are
some in Sonbhandir), have not yet been deciphered.

"From their distribution and associations, however, it
seems that they were popular for about four or five
centuries after the Christian epoch.

Well—Proceeding further south, the visitor will
find an old brick well which still contains water, About
12 feat below the rim of the well there are two defaced
inscriptions fixed on the walls. One of them is said
to contain the date Smhwat 1007 (A.D. 950).1

Making straight for the pass between the Udaya
and Sond hills, the visitor will go past a mound to his
left (probably representing the site of a stiipa), till
the Bingangd defile is reached. Here the stone walls
of the outér fortifications, running on the top of all the
hills of Rajgir, attract one’s attention.

1 Archacological Survey of India Repert, VIIL, p. 806,
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Outer fortifications.—The outer walls of the Old
City, extending over a length of about twenby-five to
thirty miles along the crest of the hills (see maps
at the end of the book), are one of the oldest remains
ot Rajgirt (plate IX). “The faces of the walls are
built of massive undressed stones between three and
five feet in length, carefully fitted and bonded together,
while the core between them is composed of smaller

blocks less carefully cut and laid with chips or frag-
ments of stone, packing the interstices between them.
No mortar or cement is visible anywhere in the stone

work. The fortifications are standing to their greatest
height on thie east and west of the Bangangi Pass where
their elevation iz between eleven and twelve feot.
On the rest of Bond-giri, and on Vaibhira-giri, Vipula-
giri and Ratna-giri, the walls are much ruined and seldom
and rise higher than seven or eight feet. From the
fact that, wherever the height of between eleven and
twelve feet is reached, the walls are invariably finished
oﬂ' ‘with o conrse of small stones and that there are
no fallen blocks of stone lying near we may assume
that this was the original height of the massive masonry
described above. Above this substructure there was
no doubt a super structure composed either of smaller
stona work or of bricks baked or unbaked, or possibly
of wood and stone or brick combined.

1 Before the discovery of the Indus Civilization the walls were
regarded as the only extant structural remains of thﬁpcm-Haurym
period.  Cambridge History of India, T, p. 616 _
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* The thickness of the fortifications varies somewhat
on the different hills, but the usual thickness is 17 feet
6 inches........ A noticeable feature of the forti-
" fications are bastions atbached to the outside of the
walls, wharever special strength was required......
They are solid rectangular buildings constructed after
the same fashion as the wall and built on to it at irre-
gular intervals. In plan, they measure from 47 feet
to 60 feet long by 34 feet to 40 feet broad........
Another interesting feature about the outer forti-
fications of the Old City are stairs or rather ramps,
built in the thickness of the wall along the inner face
in order to give access to the top...... They oceur
at irregular intervals......

“ The defences described above werze further supple-
mented, possibly at a later date, by separate watch-
towers erected at various prominent places on the hills,
Two conspienous examples of these exist on the
Vaibhira hill, viz., one just abont the hot springs and
the other nearly midway between it and the group
of shrines on the summit. "

Of the main gates in the outer city-walls, traces of
only one on the north are visible. In the Pali works
Rijpir is said to have possessed thirtytwo large gates
ond sixtyfour smaller ones. One of these was no
doubt at Bangahgd and another towards the Giriak
valley. .

Inner city-wall,—The inner city-wall to which refer-
ence has been made above (p. 30) had a eircuit of nearly
four miles and a half and was roughly pentagonal in

i Annual Reporl, Archwological Survey of India, 1906-08, pp. 88-80.
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plan (see map at the end of the book). So far as it has
been surveyed it does not appear to have been provided
with any basticns, watch-towers, ramps or stairs,
and its position is at present marked by long ridges
of earth and stones covered with o dense jungle which,
in many places, is very diflicult fo penetrate. The
west wall has almost entirely disappeared. Of the
north wall, which was the shortest, only a length of
about 80 feet is traceable and it is now represented
by a raised ridge runmning east to west along the
bhank of the small stream coming from the eastern
hill. The north gate of the inner city is marked by a
gap about 5O feet wide between this ridge and the
mound to its west, which iz crowned with a small temple
dedicated to Jard Devi and containing a modern figure
of Mahishisuramardini. The south wall is perhaps
the best preserved and in some places attains to a
height of 30 feet above the level of the valley inside,
In this wall there are three well-marked gaps through
which ancient roads can be traced.?

On the other side of the east gate, which is also in a
ruined condition, there is a deep moat, partly cut into
the solid rock which the visitor crossed when going to
the Chhathi-giri.

Zig-zag wall.—DBeginning at the foot of the Ratnagiri
and going up the hill is a zig-zag stone wall which
might have also been erected for defensive purposes.

*dnnual Report. drchaeological Survey of India, 1913-14, p, 287,
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Other remains in Old City.—The modern roads and
pathways through the valley pass over the founda-
tiong of numaerous stone buildings, some of which were
of very considerable size. Of these mention may be
made of a large compound to the north of Maniyir
Math with a tank in the middle which cceupies an arca
of about 10 acres and is locally known as the Khalhadeu
Bathan and tradition says that it was used as a cow-pen
in ancient days (it might be the royal stable). Midway
between the outer north gateand the Sonbhandéar
oave, on the other side of the stream are the foundations
of a stone building 118 feet square including the walls
which are b feet thick, where a mutilated stone image,
about 4 feet high with a serpent-hood eanopy, probably
representing Balarima, was found. Its position
has been indicated on the map at the end of the
book as Balarima Temple. Besides these, remains
of several other buildings can be traced and some of
these appear to be desipned on the monastic plan—
viz. a large court in the middle enclosed by a series of
rooms on all four sides. There is no doubt that an
extensive clearance of the jungle will bring to light

many other structures, which may prove to be quite -

valuable. .
. About a dozen square wells of ancient date have
also been observed in Old Rajgir. Many of them are
put in the rocks, and are generally dry and hidden in
the jungle.

Having seen almost all the important sites and monu-
ments in the valley the visitor will now return to
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the north gate near the hot spring. Some 200 yards
from this gate he will find, to his right, another group
of hot springs at the foot of the Vipula-giri, the largest
of which is known as the Siraj Kund.  Iere there

. is an image of Birya placed against the castern wall

of the Kund and another image of Vishnu to its south.
Immediately behind the Kund is a large stone plinth
built in the fashion of the stone house of Pippala.
This site exactly corresponds to the indications given
by Hiuen Tsang of the stone house where Devadatta,
the consin of Buddha, entered samddhi. The plinth
stands about 12 fect high. Tts western side is well-
preserved and measures 45 feet, but the other ‘sides

are ruined.

Stona ‘with blood-stains’ —Before finishing the account
of the ancient sites of Rajgir it only remains to talke
the visitor to a piece of stone with crimson marks,
popularly believed to be blood-stains. It is mentioned
by Hiuen Tsang as being not far to the east of Deva-
datta’s stone house and was pointed out to him as the
place where a monk practising samddhi wounded him-
gelf. This stone may still be seen above the Malkhdam
Kund, the detached hot spring on the north side of the
Vipulagiri. A small cave in an upper enclosure
approached by a broad flight of steps here is said to
have been frequently used by the Muslim saint, Makh-
diim Shiah Sharfuddin of Bihar, for purposes of medita-
tion during his sojourn of twelve years in the jungles
of Rajgir. The stone is higher up on the south and
js approached by a flight of steps. '



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Annual Report, Archucological Survey of India, Enstern Cirele
1605-95.—Th. Bloch, *Exeavations at Rijoir’.

Annual Report, Archaeological Survey of Fndia, 1905-00.--
J. Morshall, * Rijagpiha and Tts Remains *,

Annual Repori, Archa-ologicel  Survey of Indie, 1913-14.—
V. H. Jackson, * Notes on Old Rijagiha ”,

dnnual Report, Archacological Survey of Indin, 1925.26.—
R. P. Chanda, ‘ Jaina Antiquitics st Rajgir "

dnnual Report, Archacoligical Sureey of ndin, 1050-34,

Annual Repori, Archaological Survey of India, 1934-35.

Conningham,  Aweient Geography of Indiz, cdited by 8, N.
Majumdar-Sastri (Caleutta, 1924),

Cunningham, drchacolgical Survey of Indiz Report, I, TIT and
VIII (1871-78).

Patna Disfrict Gazetlear (1907) |

A. Btein, * Notes on an Archmological Tour in South Bihar,'
. Indian’ Antiqunry, XXX (1001).

I N. Ben, °Sites in Rijgir nssociated with Buddha and his
Disciples *, Jouwrnal of the Bikar and Orissn Researeh Socioty,
IV (1918).

D. N. Sen.—Régyir and Its Neighbourkood (Patna, 1024).

J. Legge.—Travels of Fa Hisn (Oxford, 1888).

8. Beal.—Buddhist Records of the Wastern World, TI (London,
1806). . .

T. Watbers—0n Fuan Chiesng, I {London, 1804},

B. C. Law.—Rajugribe in Ancient Literature, Memoirs of the
Archacologieal Burvey of Indis, no. 65 (1938).

MGIPC—M—54 DGA—1-6-51—1,00 0,



"EJIN B0 'SR BIPU] JO JUSKILIGADD Biy) KO DB |AEnS [BUIFR0 W PaINDoIdaK

DTN d SIS VION] A0 ATAMOE BHL 1Y O3usied OF, OB ~iF TGP Ol RIY

1 o 24 i L

Rl [T
EYHIE LINELEI0 YHLYD

YHIHOYr ¥ Y HO ;

dIOrvyd M3N ® 010

|
F
|
'. 40 SNOILYII4ILH0 4
|
|

YHIHD WYY

-
1, _ - ; T e ARy

)
et
.., 7
IH
”







N

S __..”__,_.,.m__..ﬁ!
AR
....._“..”H o _..._...u

I

g

, mﬁ? _ @
([
(i

rﬂr d A
B -
o

VAN

.ﬂmn___ LSRR .J...._...n....u.
'S

0

TAHK :

anaslsir
Ty
A

e,
W '
STOHE STRI
Oy ,1
AS
o - . % -
T el
fia
A RN
R R QA . -
L . ;
N “., 1'? &
.

i)

W
__.”% N,
, L
R\
i\

OLD & NEW RA]JGIR

OR RAJAGRIHA
PATNA DISTRICT, BIHAR

SCALE OF MILES
“%

.
ol

from orlginal supplied by the Government of India Fress. Cal
. I i
1

?11‘.!‘.&.

T

1|
1 -
_ o
\ =3
I\ .m
| s
m 3
|
]
FH
—=
.
-
-
4
[
[
=
N
_ -






List of Agents in India f;um whom
Government of India Publications are available.

NuElmm

lI
Wadhwn ds Ca,, ]Injm'l w“w

AIIHZBDAIFM}—
Chandrn Hant
Gandhl Rosd.
Tndrpdhann Book House Lid., Miasion

HRond, Bhadra,
Hew Order Book Co., Ellls Bridge,

AIMER—
EBanthiys & Co., Ltd,, Biation Kond,

AKOLA—
Bakshi, Mr. M. G.

ATLAHABAT—
Central Book Depot, 44, Johnston

Ganj.
Kilabigtan, 17-A, City Hoad.
Taw Bools Co., Past: T Mo, 4, Albere

mNan.Lnl'.ﬂli Bank Ih:.d
u l\"&tﬂf Eﬂl an hi

1k LH ]
PlesavauaM oy (of Lahore)
Wheeler & Co., Mjs. A. H,

ALW AT —
Jalna Genoral Stores, Bozozn Bozar,

AMBALA CANTT.—
English Book Depot.

AMEITSAR—
Pegples” Book B}mﬁ Conert Road,
Sﬂiﬂ‘i‘uldhhhu ouse Lid, Court

BANARAS—
Banarns Hnnl: ﬂoLl‘lll.om Universliy

Toad, P.
Btudenta FHEHI Univeraity Gate.
*Hindi Fustak Agoncy.

Chliman Lal Vera,

BIEANER—
Gowal & Co.

DOMDAY—
Lli]?uu&{ru . Box Nn. 0753, Blan,
s
Co-operators’ Bonkmm Depot, 9, Bake-

honga Lang,
f‘umn.t. Dook Honse, Horn ]]'.DI.IL
IIE:: & Co,, PO Box . 8014,

Lakhnni Book Dupot, Bomboy-4,

Fatlonal Information & Publications
Ltd,, Natlonal Houae.

New Book Co., Kitab Muhal, 188-00,
Huornby Rond,

. Popular Depot.  rant Read,
En{.\dh Guaummt P.ril!:lnp & Sta-
Bydenham Uull% ﬂn-opcutlﬂ

Hhm;, Lid,, &0, urn'tu' Road,
araporevaly Sous & Co., Messrs, D,

Thacker & Co., Ltd.
Tﬁputhlu:qhnﬂgm lﬂﬁlﬂ.
Wheeler & Co., Mesars, A,

Cha -m;._._& o, & Hacha Ra
B i
{Ihn i I.-:ne.’ ' =
"]lﬁl;dl Pustak Apency, 208, Harclson
Hipda Libe Gi-A, Bals Eam Do
Stroet. ey

Labir] & Co., Ltd., Messrs, B, K.

Prin-

" Wewman Co.,

K L']mbulmry.m{:u Messars, X, M.,
“;3. H.rrlmu Rmd & C,

lil.m, mﬁiﬁ% Bo-nball'.?y 41, Bal

tala Haoad, J.ﬂmu.nl{m.r

Thoeker Bpluk & Co. (1033), I.td
BANGALORE—
Book E Hmm. B. 5, 118, | CHAMBA—
&, H. Extensiy .'Bm‘uniu.&i PO, Chaniba Stationtry Mart.
Vichara Sahitya Lid., Balapat.
CHAKDAUSL—
BA'E-'EILI.Y— Mr. Madan Mohan,
SiRva Ntkotan, Paikarl CUTTACK-—
e an, Pulkaz, cer, Orissn SecTetariat,
BEARODA— ]}EH‘R.H._ '!'I'LFN-—-
Good Companions. Jugnl Elshore & Co,

* For Hindl Tubllcations only,



List of Agents in India from whom
Government of India Publications are available—conta.

DELHI—

Atma Ram & Sons, Publishers, ete.,
Kashmere Gate.

Bahri Brothers, 183, Lajpat Iai
Marlket.

Tederal Law Depot, Kashmere Gate.

*Hindi Pustak Asency,

TImperial  Publishing  Co.,; &, Iaiz
Bagar, Darya Ganj.

Indisn Army Book Depot, 3, Darya
Gauj.

Jaina & Bros.,, Messva. J. M., Mori

Gate.
M. Gulab Singh & Sons.
Metropolitan Book Co., Delhi Gate.
N. C. Kansil & Co., Model DBasti,
Lane No. 3.
New Stationery House, Subzimandi.
Technienl & Commercial Book Depot,
Students Park, Kashmere Gate.
Y?ng&nan & Co. (Regd.), Egerton
oad.

FEROZEFUR— -
English Book Depot.

GORAKHPUR—
Halchal Sahitya Mandir.

GWALIOR—
Jain & Bros,, Messrs, M, B., Sarafa

Road.
Mr, P, T. Sathe, Law Dooks Dealer.

HYDERABAD (DECCAN)}—
Hyderabad Book Depot.

INDORE—
Students and Studies, Sanyogitngan],

JAIPUR CITY—
Garg Book Co., Tripola Bazar.
Vani Mandir, Sawai Mansingh High-
way. L

JAMMU (TAWI)—
Krishna General Stores, Raghunath
Bagzar. ' .

JHANSI—
Bhatia Book Depot, Sadar Bazar.
English Book Depot.

JODHFUR—
Kitab Ghar, Sojati Gate.
Mr, Dwarkadas Rathi.

JULLUNDUR CITY—

Execelsior Book Depot, Baz Bahar.

wala.

KANPUR—
Advani & Co,, The Mall
Saliityn Niketan.
Universal Book Stall, The Mall,

KOLHAPUR—
Maharashtra Grantha Bhandar.

LUCKXOW—
J. Ray & Sons (Indin) Ltd,

Hazaatgan].

Law Book Ageney, 20-A, EKachery
Toad.

New Oxford Book Co., Jehangirabad
Paluce.

Universal Publisher Ltd., Plaza Build-

" ing, Hazarat Ganj.

Upper India Publishing House, Ltd.,
1:)[l:jlte]:atun‘. Palnce,  Aminuddunla

rk,

LUDIANA—
Lyall Book Depot, .
Mr. Dharam Prakash, B.Se,, Banji-
man Road.

MADRAS— :

Devine Trading Co., 22, Namashivaya
Mudall Street, Triplicane.

Higginbothams.

K. Krishnamurthy, Mount Road.

Presidency  Book  Supplies, 8-C,
Pycrofts Toad, Opp. Victoria

ostel, Triplicane.
Sn}mu, Government Press, Mount

Road.
Varadachary & Co., Messrs, P.

MANGALORE—
U. R. Sheony & Sons, Car Street.

MEERUT CANTT.—
Mr, Dharam Prakash, B.Sc.

MEERUT CITY—
Prakash Lducations Stores, Near

Tehsil.
University Book Depot, Near Tehsil.
MYSORE—

7. Nanumal & Somns, ILansdowne
Buildings. .

* For Hindi Publications only.

'1



,
.

3

R .

List of Agents in India from whom

i Governmeni of Indin Publications are available—concld.
' \ HAGPUL— PUIMIKKOTTAT—
Aupult., Gowornmenk Pristing, Conlral . N, Swastithan Sivam L G
. rovinees, Porunid Vilas, Huzar Sireol.
¥ WRW DRELHI— -
Amrle Book Co., Conmenght Cirous, %i‘:‘:ﬂfﬂ: Dugabiial Shah.

Blnvuank & Song, Connaught Hlace.
Tiwlh Taj Marwah, Sbop Xoo G,
Iigsa o, Market, Karol B RAXCHI—
U de Ui, Orlginnd Ioad, Kool Tdenl Book Store, Near Iaristhan
‘Tlyeatee, Main Howd,

Hagh.
Emplre Hook Depot, 278, Alignnj.
Lodi Rl ROOHKEE—

il
Fnglish  Book  Store,  G-Blo ..
Coamatight Lirous, o Uamlirhlge Book Depot.
Faqie  Chand  Marwanh 8 5008,
o, 1-A, Regal Dofiding, Con- | SH ILLOXG—
nanght Clroes Suprlt,, Asam Aecretariat Tres.
Hariklshnn Dns  Bedl, B 3, 24
Annexé Fergeeshoh Hol,
7. Ty & Sona (Indle) Lid,, 2, Regal AIMLA—
Ballding. I lhq.;{-t: Sgge {Toilln) Ltd.
Jain Boek Ageney, Connmght Blace. Arad Kitab dahal, Stall Xo, L,
Tavua Baeok  Dhepot, Chopparwils Minerva Book Shop, Tesgal  Cindma
cunn, Kargl Bagh, Hu'uhl.h%.
Oxfonl  Bonk & stationery  Coy., Souler Dps & Sons, 141, Tower
Seimiia House, Huzal.
Tiam Erishon & Sons (of Lahore),
1318, Connaght Place, STROMT—
watl Book Lepot, 15, Tady Hat- ‘ational Trading Co.

dinge Rond,
gikh  Publishing House Led, 7-C,

Cunsnaglt Flace, BURAT—
Ehree Gujan Fustakalyn, Tower Road.
B hen. Baoksel B
[ f e, wlu
aineo, Booksellers, etc., Bozar 31 TRICHNIOPOLY FORT—
Iorishnnn Swand & Co., Mesars, S,
PATHA— Teppakulnim.
&15"5 ;L:h 1 ].{% Bong, Plrmohank,
1 BOLATE
iy y TRIVANDRUM—
B e Bagh. Frinting Bihor, Tuternationai ook Heuse, 43, Valla
FATHA OITY—
*Hindl Pustak A UDAIPGR—

ARTHEY. .
Lakshml Teadiog  ©Co., Palrl-ki- Mewar Book Thepot.

’ Havell.

A Raghunath Farshad & Sous, OTTATN—

g" POONA— Manokehond  Dook  Dopot,  Fatol

._ Tioéan Baak Stall, Ferguesan College SR

oty Li1Le

E A Express Book Servies, East Strook. VELLORE=—

2 Inteenationn] Rook Service, Decoan Venkatazabban, Mr, 2, Law Book-
Gymbkhana. sollers.

% Vor Hindi Publications caly.



CATALCE UED

i _.
= &













	00000001
	00000002
	00000003
	00000004
	00000005
	00000006
	00000007
	00000008
	00000009
	00000010
	00000011
	00000012
	00000013
	00000014
	00000015
	00000016
	00000017
	00000018
	00000019
	00000020
	00000021
	00000022
	00000023
	00000024
	00000025
	00000026
	00000027
	00000028
	00000029
	00000030
	00000031
	00000032
	00000033
	00000034
	00000035
	00000036
	00000037
	00000038
	00000039
	00000040
	00000041
	00000042
	00000043
	00000044
	00000045
	00000046
	00000047
	00000048
	00000049
	00000050
	00000051
	00000052
	00000053
	00000054
	00000055
	00000056
	00000057
	00000058
	00000059
	00000060
	00000061
	00000062
	00000063
	00000064
	00000065
	00000066
	00000067
	00000068
	00000069
	00000070
	00000071
	00000072
	00000073
	00000074
	00000075
	00000076

